NOMINATION OF HiISTORIC BUILDING, STRUCTURE, SITE, OR OBJECT
PHILADELPHIA REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

PHILADELPHIA HiSTORICAL COMMISSION

SUBMIT ALL ATTACHED MATERIALS ON PAPER AND IN ELECTRONIC FORM (CD, EMAIL, FLASH DRIVE)
ELECTRONIC FILES MUST BE WORD OR WORD COMPATIBLE

1. ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE (must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address)
Street address: 638 Christian Street

Postal code: 19147

2. NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
Historic Name: L@ Banca Calabrese (The Calabrian Bank)

Current/Common Name:

3. TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
Building [ ] Structure [ ] Site [ ] Object

4. PROPERTY INFORMATION
Condition: [ ] excellent good [ ] fair (] poor (] ruins

Occupancy: occupied [ ] vacant under construction [] unknown
Current use: Mixed-use rental property

5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Please attach a narrative description and site/plot plan of the resource’s boundaries.

6. DESCRIPTION
Please attach a narrative description and photographs of the resource’s physical appearance, site, setting,
and surroundings.

7. SIGNIFICANCE
Please attach a narrative Statement of Significance citing the Criteria for Designation the resource satisfies.

Period of Significance (from year to year): from 1890 to 1920

Date(s) of construction and/or alteration: 1904

Architect, engineer, and/or designer: Milligan & Webber, architects

Builder, contractor, and/or artisan: Frank Bilotta, builder

Original owner: John Ferraro

Other significant persons:




CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION:

The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply):

|:| (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural
characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person
significant in the past; or,

(b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation;
or,

(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or,

(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,
(e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work
has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of
the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,

(f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant
innovation; or,

(9) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved
according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or,

(h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and
familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or,

() Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or

(i) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.
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8. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES
Please attach a bibliography.

9. NOMINATOR

Organization Date February 7, 2019
Name with Title Celeste A. Morello Email
Street Address 1234 S. Sheridan Street Telephone 215-334-6008

City, State, and Postal Code_Philadelphia, PA 19147

Nominator [_] is is not the property owner.

PHC Use ONLY
Date of Receipt;_March 15, 2019 (revised)

Correct-Complete [] Incorrect-Incomplete Date: May 13, 2019
Date of Notice Issuance: May 14, 2019

Property Owner at Time of Notice:
Name: Christian Street Acquisition, LLC

Address: 614 S. 4th Street, #518

city: Philadelphia State: PA Postal Code: 19147

Date(s) Reviewed by the Committee on Historic Designation:__June 19, 2019

Date(s) Reviewed by the Historical Commission:_12 July 2019
Date of Final Action:__12 July 2019
Designated [ ] Rejected 12/7/18
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-3- (Staff supplemented)

Boundary Description:

Situate at the Southeast corner of Christian Street and Seventh Street in the Second Ward of the City of
Philadelphia; thence extending Southwardly along the East side of said Seventh Street seventy-seven feet
and one-half of an inch to a certain three-feet-wide alley extending into and from the said Seventh Street;
thence extending Eastwardly along the North side of the said alley on a line parallel with the said Christian
Street thirteen feet eight inches to a point; thence extending Northwardly on a line at right angles to the
said Christian Street seventy-five feet eleven and one-quarter inches to a point on the South side of
Christian Street and thence extending Westwardly along the said side of Christian Street twenty-five feet

five and one-half inches to the first mentioned point and place of beginning. Being No. 638 Christian Street
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Description:

The recently renovated "Banca Calabrese" building on the
southeast corner of South Seventh and Christian Streets in the
"Bella Vista' neighborhood of South Philadelphia has retained
many of its original elements worthy of designation. It still
has its distinctive blond-colored brick over concrete base which
are in very good condition. These are off-set with contrasting
dark bronze/black accents which move one's eye to the vertical
and horizontal features appended in the last few months by the
present owner. There are vertical and horizontal courses of the
brick, some projecting, some recessed to form a pleasing pattern.
The new windows, especially on the first level, replace decades
of glass blocks, and are more consistent to the original design.

This building was planned as a bank ("banca™ in Italian)
by its owners whose ancestral home was at the bottom of the "boot"
of the Italian peninsula, Calabria. Thus, when this bank was con-
structed, "Banca Calabrese" ("The Calabrian Bank") was noted within
the rounded corner onto the architecture, along with "1904" the
date for this building. These identifiers remain, along with the
arched pediment over the (corner) entrance where a bas relief of
the patron saint of Calabria, St. George is depicted, slaying a
dragon. This entrance is accessed by two steps from the ground,
or street level and is flanked by Tuscan columns on a concrete
base. These artful features contribute to the building's past as

one of the numerous "Italian banks" in the former "Little Ttaly."

Other elements on this building to note are its compliance
to the zoning code as a "mixed use" building where a commercial

space is planned for the first level, under two levels of residen-
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tial (apartment) units. At the first level on South Seventh
Street is a one-vehicle garage at the rear where once was an al-
ley, or access from the building's south portal to the street.

A separate entrance for residents is on the north side.

The rounded three-story corner has a somewhat isolated bay
created by the verticle series of quoins alongside of the letters
(bank's name and founding year) and portal, best viewed if one is
advancing from west to east on Christian Street. This is an in-
tentional design, implying that farther east on Christian is not
where the Italian-speaking or Italian American clientele resided
in "1904." (It was west of Seventh Street.) This corner's appear-
ance is intact below the roofline and is.consistent to its ¢.1904
original design. (Refer to old image of bank from c.1905.)

Modern additions include the use of the dark color in paint
as well as in a building material over the bay windows' surrounds,
and as a siding at the second-level's south wall and around the
garage. These renovations seem to enhance the building's design
in the most appropriate manner, while still incorporating modern
doors and windows in consideration of the zoning rules, as well as

for safety purposes,



(Both photographs: "The Phila. Induirer")

Nominator obtained this official
historical marker from the Penn-
<—Historical & Museum Commission
in 1993 at birthplace of Lanza,
which was razed in mid-2018,.

Lanza's home was at 636 Christian Street

sharing a wall with the nominatioh.

( Line points to 638 Christian Street,
north wall of nominated building.)

New residential construction will sur-
round the nomination.
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February 2019.

Christian Street fagade of 638 Christian Street,



Staff Supplemented Photographs

and Christian Streets, February 2019.

638 Christian Street as viewed from the northwest corner of S. 7th
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S. 7th Street facade of 638 Christian Street, February 2019.
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Main entrance at the corner of 638 Christian Street, February 2019. The carved cartouche above the doorway has floral motifs
alongside the coat of arms for the Region of Calabria. Saint George on horseback, slaying a long-tailed dragon, identifies the
southern-most region of Italy, Calabria.



Staff Supplemented Photographs

“Banca Calabrese” is legible on the mounted stone band, which follows the contour of the rounded corner, February 2019.



Staff Supplemented Photographs

Original appearance of the Banca Calabrese, circa 1905, as photographed by Brocato, whose images were published in the local
Italian press from 1906 to 1910. Source: DiPilla, Michael. South Philadelphia’s Little Italy and 9th Street Italian Market. Charleston,
South Carolina: Arcadia Publishing, 2016, p. 64.
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Statement of Significance:

The nominated "Banca Calabrese'" building is in the Bella
Vista neighborhood of South Philadelphia, formerly the "Little
Italy" of Philadelphia. Its location is south of South Street,
on the corner of South Seventh and Christian Streets, which has
always been a busy thoroughfare for centuries as it linked the
Delaware River to the Schulkill River. This area's location
near the port of entry for late 19th century arrivals, held the
most settlement houses, ethnic (eastern and southern European)
social services centers and religious and cultural centers. Com=
mercial activity was also here. By the time that Banca Calabrese
arose in '"1904," Little Italy's "physical center'" was on Christian
Street, between "6th and 9th Street" especially, wrote Richard N.
Juliani, Ph.D. an expert on Philadelphia's Italian community for
over fifty years. Banca Calabrese's location was in the middle
of the immigrant community and the early Italian "colony" described
by Dr. Juliani from the 1850s. The older group had already estab-
lished a "distinctive and separate social system' in Little Italy
by about ”1870,”2we11 before Frank R. Bilotta (1866-1941) built
Banca Calabrese in 1904 as his office and home.

The building's name, "Banca Calabrese' is legible on the
corner entrance, above a cartouche with a bas relief of St. George
slaying a dragon (an allegory to Satan), the patron saint of the
area of Calabria at the "toe" of the "boot" of Italy. However,
documentation has not supported that a "bank'" began here. Unlike
the numerous "banks' that arose during the ''New Immigration" era
(1880-1920) for the temporary worker to send his wages abroad,
Ranca Calabrese was not of this type of business. These "Italian
banks™ were unregulated and not under State control or any law.

1 - .
Juliani, R.N., Building Little Italy. University Park: Penn State

University Press, 1998, pp. 2263 303.
Ibid., p. 114.
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The time of Banca Calabrese's construction in 1904
is relevant to the rise of new construction and new architec~
tural design implemented in the late 1890s to early 1900s. What
is of interest is that a building such as Banca Calabrese refers
to the existence of Philadelphia's Little Italy, one of the first
in the United States, and implies an "immigrnat'" community. This
was partly true by 1904 when an established citizenry of Ameri-
can-born of Italian ancestry was . responsible for the.new build-
ings rising mainly along Christian Street, where Banca Calabrese
is located. Thus, while the building did not serve as a bank,
its construction directly related to the times of developing a
different appearance on Christian Street, the main street in the
Little Italy neighborhood.

The subject of "Italian banks' has never been fully dis-
cussed by scholarly sources, but Banca Calabrese's name and lo-
cation associates it to the numerous illegal "banks,' as well as the
legal banks whose owners had also planned architecturally-distinct
buildings. These are seen north of Banca Calabrese and share some
architectural elements such as the rounded corner portals and
inscribed dates of their constructions. While also offices as
well as banks, 'the three bank buildings are architecturally -linked
to this new construction wave that elevated Little Italy's appear-

ance to relate to the period's new styles.

Whatever type of business transpired at Banca Calabrese,
why this building was erected and how it relates to the times in

architectural style and activity is relevant to Philadelphia's

cultural and historical heritages and merits historical designation.
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The nomination, '"Banca Calabrese'" has a documented histo-
rical basis proving that it was not an "Italianm bank" in the
former Little Italy (now, Bella Vista).
of a turn-of-the-century construction movement in the community

Banca Calabrese was part

especially along its busiest street, Christian. Below are some
sources on Banca Calabrese's owner, Frank R. Bilotta, a builder
and later real estate agent in Little Italy.

Evidently, the "Banca Calabrese" placed on the building's
corner had a different meaning in the United States: this banca
was Bilotta's office, not a money exchange or seller of transat-

lantic passage as other Italian banks.
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success of the affair is due the entertainmu

C. C. Cam, buildesr—gf Dyre street, has
a cantract to build four three-story brick
dwellings, measuring 16 x 58 feet each, on
Coaonklin street east of Cedar street, to cost
$11,000, for L. E. Conklin.

Jury and Kassler, architects, Shamaokin,
Pz, have been chosen to prepare the plans
for the new building for injured persons for
the State Hospital in the Trevorton, Shamo-
kin and Mount Carmel coal felds.

Frank R. Bilotta, builder, southeast cor-3

ner Seventh and Christian streets, has a
contract to build two three-story brick
dwellings at 814 and 816 Washington ave-
nue, to cost $5.400, for James Esposito.

[and 2 bath room on the

Lancy street. The plans provide for a two-
story and basement brick addition, 1312 x
30 feet, and general alterations to the present
building, which is a four-story structure, The
following builders are estimating, James G.
Doak and Company, Wm. R. Dongherty and
A. Frank Mourey.

Cope and Stewardson, architects, 320 Wal-
nut street, have completed plans for a three-
story rear addition, 1214 x 14 feet, and al-
terations to the Morfis Refuge, 1342 Lom-
bard street. The addition will provide for a
men’s room on the frst floor, a large cat
room on the second floor and seven cages
third floor, Tw-

committee, which consisted of the followir
Wm. T. Reynolds, John R. Huhn, - A
Barber, E. F. Morse, Frank H. Reeves, i
R. Wiggins, Frank R, Whiteside 2nd Geo. *
Fieids.

It is stated that Professor Lewis M, I
of Philadelptia, has prepared and su
plans to the business men of Atlar
N, 7, for improving and de
channel in the Atlantic harh~
estimated af $s500.000.

Scolomon Greenber-

Bailding, has -
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The Banca Calabrese...

(j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or
historical heritage of the community,

Banca Calabrese's location was in the center of a neigh-
borhood which by "1870" already had an "institutional structure," 3
Philadelphia's Little Italy formed by the founding of the first
Italian national church, St. Mary Magdalen de Pazzi at 7th and
Montrose Streets in 1852. The first Roman Catholics in this area
to attend services there were a majority from Liguria, northern
Italy. They claimed Christopher Columbus as one of their fellow
Ligurians and named "Columbus Hall" after him in 1867 (at 8th and
Fitzwater Streets), then funded a statue of the explorer for the
1876 Centennial Celebration. This group began the first macaroni
factories in Philadelphia before the 1880s at 8th and Christian,
then 7th and Montrose Streets. Thus, these few examples of an
"institutional structure" awaited the "New Immigration" of migrants
from central and southern Ttaly and Sicily who came from c.1880 to
the 1920s.

The rise in the immigrant population of this established Lit-
tle Ttaly by the early to mid-1890s contributed to the need for
more and new buildings. Many of the city's leading architects had
designed various types of buildings throughout Little Italy: Frank
Furness' firm at the Episcopal church (7XX Catharine Street), Frank
R. Watson's Banca d'Italia (7th and Pemberton Sts.), Edwin F. Du-
rang's St. Paul's School(s) (920 Christian and 9XX Montrose Sts.),
Duhring, Okie & Ziegler's apartment building (7th and Catharine Sts.
and Milligan and Webber's Banca Calabrese. Not noted are the many
architects of Italian ancestry who practiced locally and remained
known only to Little Italy residents at that time.

A photographic record of this building development on or near
Christian Street follows.

3 Ibid.

Tatman, Sandra and Moss, Roger, Biographical Dictionary of Phila-
delphia Architects. Boston: Hall & Co., 1985.
Philadelphia Real Estate Record & Builders' Guide for 1904,
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Banca Calabrese was only one of the numerous construcztion
projects from 1899 to about 1910 in Little Italy.

The rise of new construction implied a demand as well as
stability in the community by residents--despite the sharp
increase in the immigrant population.

These images show how Banca Calabrese was part of the evol-
ving Little Italy community in the early 1900s.

Forty-five houses were built under the direction of "one of the
main businessmen in Philadelphia,” Mr. "G. Tumolillo." He was
assisted in the construction by a bank, the "Ufficio Bancario" to
finance the work which extends to two city blocks. Today, some
distinguishable parts of this design are visible on the 1000 block
of South 8th Street, from League Street, south to Washington, and
on the 800 block of League Street where better preserved. This
was an ambitious development and proof of professional advancement
within the neighborhood's residents and the demand for newer and
more 'modern" housing for buyers, i.e., those who settled in the
area and invested there.

Parts of this complex exist, mostly deteriorating on the main
streets of 8th and Washington Avenue.

S s

Veduta di una piceola sezione di cuse di broprieta’ del signor G. Tumolillo nella 8.4 strada e Washington Ave. 11 Tu-
molilie & proprietario di 45 case. costruite con eritori moderni, che costituiscono una sezione del guartiere italiano di
Philadelphia. £ uno del principali business nen adi Philadelphia, e dirige un ben avvizto Ufficio Bancario. con una Suecur-
e Nenali 1 Leacidents Aella 1 aea el

Banchieti e Agente Generzle delly “Veloee™ & uno degli Agenti Generali d=I-
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St. Paul's bisected elementary school at 920 Christian
Street held wings to separate the boys from the girls. The
building below was designed by Edwin F. Durang in 1898, but
the same architect would design another large school building
behind this one by 1905. This image was from the archives of
the Sisters, Servants of the Immaculate Heart of Mary, one of
many religious orders who resided among Little Italy residents.
They taught at St. Paul's until the increase of Italian students
required Italian-speaking nuns, such as the order founded by
St. Frances Cabrini, the first American saint.

The building below was razed by the late 1950s; the 1905
school building still exists but is now a secular charter school.

~ St. Paul's School ceased in operation by the mid-1990s.
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Evidently, the building boom in the former Litt
to the early 1900s involved at least two more "Italian banks" on 7th
Street. The "Inquirer" image (below) from a 2015 article noted this
Frank R. Watson design of "Banca d'Italia" at 7th and Pemberton Streets
It‘wag specially built in 1903, offering banking and insurance services'
This is one of a few Little Italy "testaments." ’

le Ttaly from the 1890s

The ad on right was from a page of paid
boosters for St. Paul's Church in 1929,
The name "Banca d'Italia" continued in
Bella Vista as the name of the 8th and , .
Christian Streets branch of Continental ]Banca d'ltalia
Bank until the 1990s when PNC purchasead [GE¥ARD Bt UEKOYA, Proy.

- CON casa propria
the old firm. {fondata nel 1895
[Apenzia generale del
Lloyd Italiano
Living (Http://www.philly.com/living) — Home & Design (http://www.philly. 1 727 5. 74 Sheef,

- Philadclphia,
Good Eye: Italian Bankers Row
Updated: FEBRUARY 22, 2015 — 9:13 AM EST
f Y & ™ (Refer to Appendix for full svticle.)

The Banca D'italia building is probably the best preserved of the former banks that dotted Seventh Streat.

Covemat Flvae Lnpe ok s SO L
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Although some details have been re-
moved, this bank at Seventh and
Fitzwater Streets is the most consis-
tent to its original appearance.

(See below, in c¢.1905 image.)

Dating from 1893-1895, the design of
this bank is comparable to the roun-
ded corner portals of the Banca D'-

Italia (con same block, to north) and
to the instant Banca Calabrese, es-

pecially with the upward visual pull
to the clock towers.,

i
LANE

CLEAMERS




Little Italy in the early 1900s
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This huge "statement" bank built for millionaj

re C.C. A, Baldi
opened in 1903, one block south of Christian g

treet, on 8th.

Thisg building does not exist in the former Little Italy,

Baldi and his brothers

Were prominent as investors in this
community, and did busi

ness with all economic classes.

PriLApnLraIa. Pa.

CORRESPONDENTI QEL
caBLE X -
BALDIBROS 3. BANCO DI NAPOL:
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Verdi Hall was the
b_idea of Ferrucchio
;Giannini who lived
G lat 727 Christian and

.

fwvas the first voice
on a record/disc in
S | 506 .

I
h-

ferdi Hall was 100!
;..%rom Banca Calabrese
gand its "1906" date
put it within that
fépate of building
%projects along or
Inear Christian Sc.
'€Verdi Hall was on

BN the 700 block of

B Christian St. and

B its construction of
Y "artificial stone"
made it an example
of the material's

use,
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The Travascio Funeral Home on the southeast corner of
Catharine and 10th Streets, one block above Christian, is
an example how many existing buildings were improved on their
exteriors in that 1890 to 1910 period of new construction pro-
jects throughout Little Italy. In the image (below), quoins
line the sides of the building of lighter colored masonry to
separate it from the red brick rowhouse next door. As more
proof of its newer and more costly construction is the semi-lune
window on tis north wall and absence of shutters that would

deflect from the windows' surrounds. The funeral hearst is

drawn by white horses with an attired chauffeur at the reins.

The Gothic dome in the background was once upon St. Paul's

Roman Catholic church's tower. The church faced Christian
Street, but was close for Travascio's clientele around the block.

Mr. Travascio was described as a generous businessman.
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This map demonstrates how important/buildings in the
Little Ttaly community were on or near Christian Street.
The crosses are locations of churches; "B" is for banks and
the nomination is a star, located in the middle of this acti-
vity from c. 1890 to c. 1910.

New construction from this period focussed on the traffic
on Christian Street. (Railroad lines on Washington Avenue was a
more congested and rougher travel.) Of other important build-
ings near Banca Calabrese are Casa Ravello apartments, the "A"
and factories, "F."

There was a construction project on every block of Christian
Street from the 1890s to about 1910, a few years after Verdi Hall,
the "opera house" and vaudeville theatre openned in 1906. (See image.)
Banca Calabrese was among these social and cultural centers. Chris-
tian Street merged the religious and educational buildings with
commercial activities as well, warranting a trolley and two-way
traffic (as today) as part of daily life.
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BANCA CALABRFSE

There are very few references to the "Italian banks" of
Philadelphia, but one scholarly source included Banca Calabrese
into the category with other banks of the period. '"Italiam
banks"arose in New York City as well as in Buenas Aires, Argen-
tina, according to Baily.fS This type of business not precipita-
ted by the increase in immigrants, but the increase in the tem-
porary Italian migrant worker who was male. Often illiterate,
the typical worker needed to send his wages abroad, or to pay
the employment broker, or to keep his money in a presumably
safe place. The "Italian banks" in Philadelphia held a wide
range of services besides wiring momey abroad or selling tickets
for passage. Some bought and sold real estate while others sold
watches and jewelry. DiGenova's Banca d'Italia sold insurance
under Lloyd's of London. This was one of only a few Italian banks
who complied under the Commonwealth's banking laws. This bank
would continue in business until the "1950s or 1960s," said one
local patron of the bank,

Banca Calabrese origins were recorded, unlike most of the
"25 Italian banks" that Juliani counted for the year, 1897? A
man named "Frank R. Bilotta" had applied for a permit to demo-
lish a "frame house and brick dwelling on the southeast corner
of 7th and Christian sts.” on or about March 4, 1904." These
structures had existed at least from the 1830s or 1840s when the
area was part of Moyamensing Township and largely of the'white
Anglo-Saxon Protestant" demographic. The famine in English-ruled
Ireland brought Irish Catholics into the area by the early 1840s
and more significantly in the 1850s to join St. Paul's Roman Ca-
tholic Church which had been threatened in the 1844 Nativist Riots.

Baily, Samuel, Immigrants in the Lands of Promise. Ithaca: Cor-
g nell University Press, 1999.p, 189.

Juliani, R.N., "The Origin and Development of the Italian Com-

munity in Philadelphia,” pp.251, in Bodnar, John, The Ethnic Ex-
7 perience in Pennsylvania. Lewisburg: Bucknell Univ. Press, 1973.

St. Paul's sacramental records at its founding in 1843 showed
Irish-born parishioners. (Records, Catholic Hist. Research Ctr.)
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Many of these brick or frame buildings along Christian
Street would not survive into the 20th century, as the photo-
graphic record demonstrated. However, one of the developments
in which Banca Calabrese was involved, was in the use of contem-
porary architectural styles alongside of traditional styles, as
at Verdi Hall, and the hiring of professional architects. The
average Italian immigrant would mnot have known to do that. Nor
would the ordinary rowhouse resident.

By March 21, 1904, Mr. Frank R. Bilotta had architectural
plans drawn by the Milligan and Webber firm for a "three-story

brick store and dwelling,"

the nominated property. The name of
John Ferraro appeared in both of these permits from 1904 and it
is believed that he was related to Bilotta. Bilotta's death
certificate listed the Banca Calabrese as his residence in 1941?
Moreover, City Directories held a consistent listing of Bilotta
with the Banca Calabrese property from the 1904 completion to

the 1920s when Bilotta was listed as "real est" (estate).

Bilotta's previous occupation was "builder' and he had ob-
tained permits for his projects and followed every ordinance and
law for a contractor. Juliani found an "souvenir book" from
1908 in which Bilotta noted the Banca Calabrese by name, along

' which no other "banca'" had at

with "building and contracting,’
the time. What Juliani noted and recorded for each bank that

paid for an advertizement in this book was a different service
that did not exactly relate to conventional banking? In the con-
text of Banca Calabrese's functions in business, the other "banks"
extended their uses to selling "steamship tickets," generally,

with "real estate,” "

mortgages' and foreign exchanges of currency.
Why they were called "banks" (or banche in Italian) if merely

agents for the steamship companies may have the broader meaning.

Information from the Philadelphia Real Estate Record and Buil-
ders' Guide, p. 12 herein. Pennsylvania Department of Health,
Certificate of Death, #9294.
Juliani, op.cit., pp-251-52.
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Italian immigrants from small villages may not have ever
seen a banca, or understood its purpose, if one was not earning
anything substantial. In an era where bartering in villages was
common in lieu of currency exchange, the banca was alien, ex-

cept in the cities and higuer economic classes.

Banca Italiana oc-
cupied the space at
Banca Calabrese in
the 1920s, decades
after it began at
714 South 7th St.
Only Varallo con-

tinued in banking.

iy 71

The documentatiuvu on whether RBaucz Calabrese functioned as

a conventional American bank only has the first floor office
space rented by a "A. Varallo," and the business called, "Ban-
ca Italiana.” (See above image.) A "Giuseppe Varallo" from
Montella, a small town outside of Naples, had operated a "Ban-
ca Italiana" at 714 South 7th Street along with a Mr. Bonavita-
cola. Their "bank" was incorporated into a store front in a
rowhouse which was typical of the Italian banks that were pa-
tronized by those temporary migrant laborers in the area. This
bank advertized on its window 'oreficeria" (goldsmithing) and
orologeria (watchmaking), along with notary services. The
name, however, continued until the 1920s at the Banca Calabrese
location, but whether ''goldsmithing' or "watchmaking'" was still
the business of this "banca" nonetheless puts some understan-
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ding to what a banca meant to the native Italian at the time,
versus the American definition.

Whatever occurred within the walls of Banca Calabrese was
within the discretion of Mr. Bilotta. Subsequent permits were
given to him for more buildings, most in the Little Italy area.
His construction of two rowhouses on Washington Avenue are re-
markable only for the brickwork and materials, Calabrians hold
a reputation as very good brick and stopne masons, and the Banca
Calabrese name may have been used to draw attention to Bilotta's
skill, but this is a subjective opinion. (In the 1960s, Calabri-
ans in the area were still preferred for stone masonry over others,
as this nominator was told by one builder.) Calabrian stone ma-
sons found employment in the Chestnut Hill and Germantown area
through the 1920s. But, Bilotta's days as a builder ended by the
1920s when he began his "real estate" business. (It should be
noted that no corporation had been filed with the Department of
State on Bilotta or on Banca Calabrese.)

Banca Calabrese's location and appearance have been the ba-
sis in how the building conformed with the timely increase in new
construction on Christian Street and near that busy highway. In
a better manner to prove how Banca Calabrese presented this advan-
ced architecture to be a "landmark” in the Little Italy neighbor-
hood, some of the new buildings erected had been attached. But,
the confusion on whether Banca Calabrese was a bank and functioned
as one needs more visuals in lieu of the absence of documentation,
Thus, some images of the notorious "Italian banks" follow. Their
locations in store fronts, in rowhouses from the 1830s and 1840s
implied a less serious intent on honest business than the special-
ly designed "Banca d'Italia," "Banca Bozelli" or, Banca Calabrese.
For these reasons, Banca Calabrese merits designation.

Celeste A, Morello, MS, MA
March, 2019
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The old photographs in this nomination
were copied from this source, a rare book
in private possession. La Colonia di Fi-
ladelfia (1910) at the Historical society

of Pennsylvania has the same images and

same informationm on the Italian banks.




The "first" of many Italian
banks in South Philadelphia,
Banca D'Ambrosio, founded

in "1886" at Eighth and
Catharine Streets conducted
real estate services and
other business-related ser-
vices, carrying on until

the last guarter of the 20th
century at another locatiocn.

The "Colonial" Bank Cerceo-
Ciallella offered services
more accommodating to the
Italian single male laborer
with relatives abroad. This
bank (below) was directly
across the street from the
Banca Calabrese., Full ser-
vices included ticket and
boarding passage, notarial
and post office mailings.

Neither of these banks con-
flicted with Banca Calabrese's
limited business with devel-
opers and contractors who
changed the staid architectu-
ral rowhouse designs from

the 1830s to the 18350s.

mesia la prima Banea italiana di Phitadelphia ronde

Eupa. anche di operazioni di Real Estate e dirige co
3 florida aziwnda.

|3 o -

|
7 Banca Coloniale was
one of only two banks

listed in Boyd's 1922
Directory as a '"banca."

It closed by 1927.

e S
S e SR

a2 con rettitudine, & unita una Agenzia di Navigazione, Ufficlo notarils &
ale, privilegio che & una como dith per la nosira colonia o una referenya
e

3 Ditta.
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Short-Lived Italian Banks

Two examples of unregu-
lated "store front"

Ttalian banks located
in the middle of resi-
dential blocks.

BANGCA DEL SANNO
910 Ehrisiian St N
Proprigatio: M. F. Seagea = 3¢
vizio 4 Vaglia Telegrahicl

Left, the "Banca Torino" did
not last long--by the early
1920s it became a "cafe" that
ctatered to underworld sellers
of illegal alcohol. The site
at 822 South 8th St. held a

_ succession of restaurants to

e e the present.

T e

ey syt a5 P e

" ' RESTAURANT E CAFE’
GIARDING DI TORIND !

‘ DONATO GIAMPACLO, Prop.
i 322 So. 8th Strest, Philadelphin, Pa.

Yors Cuslug Itallany — Prazd alOrdine 4 alls Carin & Tutte I Ove
3 RICEVONQ GRDIN! PLE SARCHETY! £ SPOIALIET
Bals Juperieri pr Fomiglle

530 S T Gt




The Ttalian bank founded by Frank DiBerardino from Abruzzo (central Italy) was

Street.

tian

is

t 821 Chr

18 services a

h

’

izing

an elaborate feat of advert
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From Italian Bank to "Giunta's Butcher Shop" to "Monsu."

The 1910 caption explains this "Bank Office" first established
in "1895" then later becoming the "Italo-American Trust Company'
in "1902." This office handled all types of banking services,
real estate and administered phases in employment placement, in-
cluding the "collezioni" (collections) of various fees paid in
the course of finding, then holding employment positions for
Italian migrants.

t

This northwest corner of 9th and Christian is part of the Market.
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Although individual Italians had been in Philadelphia since before
the Revolutionary War, there is no evidence of any sizable Italian
population in the city until the middle of the 19th century.! In
December, 1853, Bishop John Neumann, himself a German immi-
grant, established St. Mary Magdalen de Pazzi as the first national
-, parish for Italians in the United States.? The sacramental records,
particularly for baptisms, provide the only existing social data on this
first Italian community in Philadelphia.

The majority of these early settlers came from a section of North-
ern Italy, beginning at Genoa, stretching down the Ligurian coast
35 kilometers to Chiaveri and reaching inland 35 kilometers to Tor-
tona in the region of Piedmont and 51 kilometers to the town of
Bobbio in Liguria. Italians had also come, however, from other
sections of the Kingdom of Sardinia and nearby regions of Northern
Italy, as well as, in a handful of cases, Naples and Sicily, far to the
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industries, Much disagreement has marked the study of the role of {t'rank F. Bilotta Company), at 7th and Christian, advertised only
contract labor in stimulating immigration from Southern and Eastern in terms of building and contracting. G. Tumolillo, established in
m:.BUm” Early writers, particularly Koren in his influential study, | 1887, on South Sth Street, was a banker and broker. Frank-Di.
af immigrant banks, placed great importance on the padrone mmmﬁwa.ﬁ _ Berardino, on Christian Street, with branches in West Philadelphia -

!
A
w
;

S5

A very recent writer reached a similar conclusion in a study which
wanmmﬂnn&. the padrone system as the central mechanism of Italian
immigration to America.?® However, other scholars have expressed
more skeptical and cautious views on the importance of contract
labor and the padrone system.®® Erickson concluded that no evidence
ever showed that American industry actually imported many Hun-
garians or Italians.2° Similarly, Nelli claims that a formal padrone
system may have lasted until the 1880s, but only on a very limited
scale. After the Foran Act, Nelli writes that the padrone system
Un.ﬂ.mmmnam“ but had evolved into an informal operation, conducted by
private agents. By the late 19th century, Nelli maintains, the agent
no w.o:mmn needed to recruit in Europe, but merely to meet the
immigrant at the port, in order to hire him, mainly as a laborer for
the railroads, construction companies, and city departments. But the
federal investigations of the time, while documenting many violations
of the contract labor laws, never conclusively demonstrated that the
padroni had actually induced much migration, and by 1907, the
Dillingham Commission could find only isolated cases of the padrone
system.28

Undoubtedly, some form of padrone existed in Philadelphia in the
years of mass migration from Italy to the United States. Koren had

-aoted an_intimate_connection between the padrone system and immi-

grant banks, and Philadel ad 23 Italian banks in 1897 mainly?
concentrated near South 7th Street.?® A souvenir book, published in
1908, on the 225t4 anniversary of the founding of Philadelphia,

jcontained advertisements for several Italian firms providing an inter-

esting variety of services. Ebawaommo Company at 8th and

MH.J:N..ENHH mﬂ.noﬁm_ founded in 1886, which claimed-to-be the oldest
M_HR.LE: bank in/ Philadelphia, also was 2 real estate office and steam-
iship agency. The Italo-American_Company (Serafini and Ciaverelli

Company) at 9th and Christian, engaged in general banking, steam-

ship tickets, real estate, and foreign exchange. The Banca Calabrese
e

| “dnd~in-Pittsburgh, advertised as a steamship ticket agency. Cesare

Romano, banker, broker, and steamship agent en South 8th Street,
also advertised as the proprietor of the Pottstown Trap Rock Quarry
and Crusher, bluntly stating: “Laborers Furnished for Railroad,
Reservoir, Grading, Etc.” The advertisement for C.C.A. Raldi
Brothers and Company read: “Real Estate Brokers-and Conveys
-ances;-Mottgages Negotiated, Money Loaned, Houses Bought and
Sold, Rents and Interest Collected, Estates Managed.” A separate
advertisement for C.C.A. Baldi and Brothers, with two offices on
South 8th Street, identified the firm as an Italian exchange bank,
buying and selling~foreign money, and as the representative of the
Banco di Napolf.30 )

Charles C. A. Baldi began as an_interpreter and labor gang leader
m.m: the railroad in Manayunk, but became, unquestionably, the most
successful and powerful Italian businessman in Philadelphia. But
his wealth and influence were not attained without making great
enemies of other prominenti, leaders of rival firms and factions. One
very bitter passage in a generally acrimonious study of the Italians
in America characterized Baldi in a manner which reflected this

factionalism

In one of our large cities there is a man of great cleverness, an
outstanding example of the common type, who has graduated
through all the stages of cicerone?! lemon-vendor, undertaker,
coal-dezler, banker, real estate agent and proprietor of an Italian
newspaper, L Opinigne. Among the Italians he has passed for a
Roman Catholic; in the American residential district where he
lives, he is.a member_of..a Protestant-church~He has been able
to capitalize™his reputation, without holding great office, as to be
the colonial boss, so that no Italian considered that he could
accomplish anything without recourse to his influence. Although
evidently his first thought is for himself, he himself really believes
that he is giving his life for his people. It may be said that another
taction, enthusiastic over Americanism, is fighting his leadership

P
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ﬁoa:mu.m indicate the taste and preference of the architect more than chang-
ing public expectations for a bank building. But the banks boasted of them
and used pictures of their buildings to advertise the grandeur of the bank
(see Figure 3-7).

Furness designed banking houses both for the financial district in town
and for the commercial centers developing in neighborhoods throughout
the city. As Table 3-3 demonstrates, banks began to spring up outside the
central financial district as early as the beginning of the nineteenth century.
[n 1810 the Bank of the Northern Liberties appeared, followed by the
Schuylkill Bank and the Bank of Germantown four years later. Several
others appeared in the 1830s, with a new cluster in the 1860s and more
growth in the 1870s and 1880s. These banks began near customers rather
than other bankers and concenirated on making loans to individuals or
small businesses. Many served recent immigrant groups and thus came to
be known in some banking circles as “sauerkraut banks.” Located at Franklin
Street and Girard Avenue, the National Security Bank, for example, was
organized by the German residents of the northern area of the consolidated
city. The neighborhood influence was usually preserved directly in the
bank’s charter. The Kensington Bank was required to select at least 9of its
13 directors from residents of that part of Philadelphia.

These banks competed vigorously with those in the financial district. Of
course, financial alliances did not always follow geographic lines. In 1833
Jackson’s withdrawal of funds from the Second Bank divided Philadelphia
banks into two camps without geographic significance. The nine banks
which sent 2 memorial to Jackson supporting restitution came from all over
the city: Bank of North America, Bank of Pennsylvania, Commercial
Bank, Mechanics Bank, Moyamensing Bank, Schuylkill Bank, and Farmers
and Mechanics Bank. Six other widely distributed banks did not join in:
Philadelphia Bank, Western Bank, Southwark Bank, Kensington Bank,
Bank of the Northern Liberties, and Girard Bank.* But the rivalry between
neighborhood and city banks surfaced later in response to a bank league
organized by the downtown institutions in 1842. The Kensington Bank and
Bank of Germantown refused at first to participate, although they and
other neighborhood banks were eventually drawn into the clearinghouse.

As they prospered, some neighborhood commercial banks like the Moya-
mensing Bank (which became the Bank of Commerce) and the Western
Bank moved downtown. On the other hand, new trust dnd safe deposit

are 3-7. The National Bank of the
wblic, 1884, Frank Furness, archi-
. This drawing of the bank in an
1 publication of the Trades League
>hiladelphia was accompanied by
xt which began, ““The aitractive
ding of the Naticnal Bank of the
ublic, 313 Chestnut Street, com-
1ds attention by its unique archi-
ure and prevailing red {one,
enting to the street a striking
de of English redstone, terra-cotta
Philadetphia pressed brick, with
steep roof of red slate; the half-
ied doorway and round tower,
its conical roof, being prominent
ures.” A detailed description of
building’s exterior and interior
acteristics followed, inciuding a
ussion of its “vaults . . . of mas-
granite work, with the most
qoved steel lining™; its interior
“‘much larger than its exterior
zates, affording ample room in
he apartments, and an unusually
: space ouiside of the counters
customers and the public,” The
ling was, further, “‘heated by
n and from open stone fireplaces,
th form pleasing features’” and
“admirably ventilated and lighted,
maost conveniently and comfort-
arranged.”” Trades League of
adelphia, The City of Philadel-
as It Appears in the Year 1894
ladelphia: George S. Harris,
hp. 147,

7 . . . . .
a m\, : companies grew up 1i wealthy neighborhoods, saving their patrons the
hﬁw\m\{ T inconvenience of traveling into the city to retrieve papers and jewels.

Many banks in n.n‘_mwwo}oo@m housed themselves in such modest quarters

7 ./ : . . ag stores or converted residences. The large ones often built in a style similar

to that found on Bank Row, but few anywhere matched the flights of fancy
achieved by Willis G, Hale in his downtown buildings for the Quaker City
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to 2020 Chestnut, which was too residential and too far west to be success-
ful, Finally, in 1889 it settled on the northeast corner of Broad and Chestnut.
Designed by Addison Hutton, the firm’s eight-story <tgskyscraper’’ in the
Romanesque tradition was calicd Morris’s Folly (after Girard's president,
Effingham B. Morris). But offices for tenants were rented within a few
months, and four more stories and two more elevators were added in 1894,
By 1900 the company was feeling cramped and moved across the street into
a Pantheon that reflected the earlier archeological phase of banking style.

The Girard Trust’s addition of four stories in 1894 shows the direction of
yet another kind of move: upward. To accommodate larger staffs and
respond to rising land values downtown, several banks added floors or
erected new, tall office structures. In 1892 the Philadelphia (national) Bank
added several stories to its building at 421 Chestnut Street, It also moved its
banking room from the back of the building to the front, affording greater
convenience to customers and, according to the bank’s president, increasing
business.?® Furness uplifted the Provident on Chestnut Street, although the
vertical addition which he designed fights hard, stylistically, against being
tall. When Drexel and Company needed more oo, it hired Wilson Brothers,
a Philadelphia firm, to wrap an 11-story office building around its original
marble and brick banking temple. The A-frame buttressing system of the
design was technically advanced, and the owners considered the structure to
compare ‘“favorably with the largest of the new buildings in New York and
Chicago.”"?

Other banks built tall structures from scratch, housing themselves on the
first few floors and renting out the others. One style, as we have seen, was
‘Romanesque, really a national style for office buildings following the
precedent of the major national architect of the period, H. H. Richardson.
The influence of Frank Furness, however, kept Philadelphia from being
completely overtaken by Romanesque structures as other American cities
were during the period. .

Philadelphia: Leader in Financial Architecture _

During the century, different banking functions and different banking
firms sought appropriately different sical presences. Fashions in banks
changed, Fashions in the criticism of banks also changed. At the turn of
the century a quiet style won praise. Writing in 1904, for example, an “‘ex-
reporter’’ lamented the loss of geographic and architectural cohesion in the
financial community around Third Street and Bank Row. He saw the home
of the Second Bank as a model because ‘it is less pretentious, less suggestive
of the architect, more in the unconsciously noble style.’”** Most later banks
he thought florid, only ‘‘pretty.”’ He liked the **harmonious union of mas-
siveness and elegance” of the 1893-94 building for the Bank of North America
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1o Migrants and Immigrants

of these were undoubtedly repeaters; further, Europeans’ crossings to
Canada and Mexico complicate the rotals. The return rate among all
groups was 35 percent for the period. The country-by-country break-
down for Europe in the U.S. government's compilations for 1908—23 is
presented in the accompanying table.

A survey of estimates by European and American scholars, beginning
in the r920s and continuing through the present, suggests the following
return percentages among European national and ethnic groups. These
are for emigration from the United States to Europe in the 1880-1930
pericd uniess otherwise nated:

Austro-Hungarians:17—27 percent for the pre-1909 era of mass mi-
gration from the multethnic dual monarchy."

Croatians: Between 33 and 40 percent for rgoo—14; a more recent
estimate for Croatians and Slovenians together is 36.3 percent.”

Danes: The 8.6 percent in U.S. records from 1908—14 is regarded as
less than the true level for earlier years. One scholar estimates the return
at 2o percent.'

English and Welsh: Probably higher than the U.S. figures of 16 per-
cent for the English and 7 percent for the Welsh from 1908 1o 1918,
but certainty lower than the British government’s combined §3 percent
return for both groups from 1895 to 1918. A more recent estimate of
19.3 percent includes Canadians.”

Finns: 20 percent overall, according to a recent study for the 1860s to
1930."

French: Compared to other large European nations, France sent small
numbers to the United States. A recent study puts the remigration rate
for the opening decades of the century at 48.2 percent.”

Germans: From 1884 through 1892, ranging from 13 to 23 percent.”

Greeks: The 46 percent rate for 1908—23 in U.S, statistics is probably
close to the figure for the entire pericd 1880-1930, although the
Balkan wars and World War [ brought sharp changes.”

Hungarians: Qne recent estimate is 46.5 percent, although the per-
centage for 1899—1913 has been estimared ar 24.3 percent.”

Irish: 10 percent of the post-famine emigrants returned, according to
the most recent studies.”

Italians: Rising from 34 percent for rgoi—6, according to several
different official Italian statistics, to 38 percent for r9o7~14, with ex-
tremely high percentages in certain years. A 1926 lwalian government

investigation claimed a 63 percent return rate for 1902—23. A recent

examination, however, places the overall percentage at 5o percent from
g at 30 percent oI,

the 1880s to the early 1920s.”

Migration between the United Srare:

2
2
@

4
-
-
4

Race or Immigra
nationality fto U

Bohemian, Moravian

{Czech)
Bulgarian, Serbian, e
Montenegrin 104,8¢
Croat, Slovene 225,9;
Dalmattan, Bosaiar, ,
Herzegovinian 30,6¢
Dutch, Flemish 141 ot
English 706!65
Finnish 105’34
French 304,14
German 669:56
Greek 366,45
Hebrew 958,64
Irish 433’66
Italian (north) 401’91
Italian {south) 1,614,35
Lithvanian 1 37,7:“
. Magyar 2.26,81:
. Polish 788:95'
128,52-
Russian 1???2
Ruthenian (Russniak) 17[18:=
Scandinavians o
Danish,
448,846
301,075
225,033
153,218
26,152

Source: US. Secretary of Labor, Elevent
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Seasonal Migrations and the America Fever 39
ROVES OF MALES”

“But more than land size, more than economics propelled the move-
nt westward, The America fever was a changing contagion that de-
ed exact analysis, and the rising phenomenon of temporary migration
irected overseas was becoming part of it. Not all of this exodus was
p edictable, neither in ¥8go nor in retrospect today. Sometimes commu-
nities with poor conditions sent fewer emigrants than communities that
ere thriving. As a Dutch authority observed, “evidently, where judging
the need for emigration, the demographers and economists apply stan-
dards whose validity the agrarian population has not yet recognized.”
Often the wrong people left. Slovaks in Hungary did not emigrate from
the Magura region during hard times but waited until the rising sugar
beet industry broughr good times. Others waited out economic down-
turns untii friends and relatives had setiled in America first.*
¢ Ethnic feuding, wars, revolts, and government restrictions stirred
zothers to leave despite favorable economic conditions at home. The em-
- pires—Russian, Austro-Hungarian—with difficulry kept lids on their
boiling nationality disputes. The czar’s 1899 orders for conscription of
Finnish young men set off an immediate rush for the borders, and spo-
radically other groups within the Russian empire also fled to escape the
government. From 1899 to 1910, 43.8 percent of Russia’s emigrants
-were not Russians but Jews, and Poles made up 27 percent. Only 4.4
percent of those leaving Russia were Russians.”

As this emigration to America mushroomed, its makeup began 1o
shife. It remained a heavily rural, peasant movement, but no longer did
family groups dominate. Single women arrived, but their numbers were
overwhelmed by those of men, especially young men, “They came in
droves of males,” a U.S. congressman remarked, and the change was
dramatic enough to draw attention: the U.S. Census report for 1910
observed that with the increased immigration from southern and east-
ern Europe the foreign-born showed “a very marked excess of males” —
154.6 males 1o 100 females from Austria, 160.8 1o 100 from Hungary,
190.6 to 100 from ltaly, 137.3 to roo from Russia. Foerster found that,
among outward-bound Italians, the percentage of males rose rapidly
with every proncunced spurt in immigration; in fact, from 1870 to
1910, 78 percent of the emigrants from Italy to the United States were

» > male, Those leaving the Austro-Hungarian empire showed male per-

centages from 1899 to 1910 ranging from a low of 57 percent for Bohe-
mians and Moravians to highs of 91 percent for Romanians, 92.3 per-




T T S oy,

4 I
] a8 ;
/ fo
/ B |/j/1_/ /\/
60 American Realities ‘4 S
AL

child labor, for some ltalians brought children with them and placed
them in the tenement sweatshops. These children were kept from school
and stunted “morally, physically and intellectually”—all because of
“the desire on the part of these people to earn and hoard up money,
with the ultimate view of returning to their native clime.” Here was no
interest in struggling with nature to create a farm in the Midwest; no
long-range dreams to start a business; no hopes to develop a better life
in America. “Work was goad or bad depending on the pay,” a study of
Polish immigrants noted. “A ‘good work’ was a betrer paid job which
made it possible 1o amass some savings.”"

Stories of the enormous sacrifices immigrants made to build up sav-
ings circulated in the industrial centers and even in the halls of Con-
gress. Common laborers in Pittshurgh were reported to be putting away
up to 315 a month; this is consistent with Fwa Morawska’s conclusion
that the savings by east-central European men in Johnstown averaged

$100--200 annually. Italian lahorers had the highest SaVINgs rate among

European laborers, according to a 1907 Bureau of Labor report, putting

away $z25-27 monthly from railroad work. Floaring immigrant
workers in the western Midwest and Plains states were reported to have
“clear saving” of $1 per day from wages of only $1.25-1.65. An Amer-
ican working in a steel mill found many employees who did not save,
but he said that “practically all the ‘Hunkies® of twenty-eight or thirty
and over saved very successfully”—and these were expecting to return
to Europe. One told him: “A good job, save money, work all time, go

“home, sleep, no spend.”*

Immigrant savings banks multiplied, often becoming targers for rob-
bery or fraud. Government probers frequently looked into the instit-
tions. Dillingham Commission investigators found, however, that Bul-
garians working on western raitroads kept their savings in leathern
belts, after a Bulgarian bank in the arca had failed. Padrone banks were
notorious for_illegal acts, and Italy finally authorized the Banco di
Napoli to handle the retarn of savings from America, Many funds con-
tinued to be carried back by returnees or to be transferred through
postal money orders or in other ways. A banker serving Serbians on
Pittsburgh’s South Side reported in 1908 that he sent back $20,000-
25,000 daily to the old country. Hungarian postal receipts show that
American Slovaks sent home $41.6 million from 1900 to 1912, and one
scholar has estimated that the Slovak total for 1870-1914 was at least
$200 million. Remittances to Sweden averaged $8 million yearly from
1906 to 1930, making up a quarter of Sweden’s balance of payments.
The 1897—1902 total entering ltaly from its entigrants abroad was est-

mated at $1o0 million
individual money ord
the dollar amount goy
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. revealed only 417 tralian-born residents in Phila-
1 by 300-370 peaple in ten years, ant increase
and perhaps as much as 315 percent,
. is used. But the total for lralians was
ed with the huge numbers of Trish and

Germans, or even the 3,299 Scots and 2,625 French who remained

distinctive elements of the local population. ™

The growth of the Philadelphia Tralian population was accompanied
by an important change in where they lived. In 1850, there were only
slight concentrations in Middle Ward and Dock Ward of the city, in
the First and Second Wards of Moyamensing, and in the First Ward
of Southwark, which in each case did not exceed fifteen people. In
another ten years, ltalians displayed a pattern of clustering that was

quite different.
By 1860, the Iralian population in Philadelphia reached & level that
ations alse possible {sec Table 9}. The largest

made sizeable goneentr
aumber, 299 {more than 70 percent of all Tralian residents), lived in the
Street, the area

Third, and Fourth Wards, just below South
that previously was the Township of Moyamensing and the Southwark
Diserict. The Second Ward, which extended from Wharton Street

:o:rzm::: Christian Strect and from the Delaware River west {0
wannnom_.o.an_m:nnr 8:55&

Passyunk, then west along Ellsworth 5t

Second,

129 individuals born in Iraly, the largest single concentration. The
Second Ward was typical of the entise area, with a large number of
native-born mmam,mmm.mwww,a,imr Tmmigrants but also many Germans
and English, a sprinkling of Canad tans, French, and Swiss, and pockets
of Tealians. Just above it, the Third Ward, which ran from Christian
Srreet north to Fitawater Street and from the Delaware River to Broad
Sereer, held another 99 individuals born ltaly. The Fourth Ward,
which fell bepween Firawater §ereet and South Street and the Delaware
River and Broad Street, housed 71 natives of ltaly. At chis time the
area unmistakably held the roots of the talian neighborhoods that
eventually dominated much of South Philadetphia.

In contrast to what this population would later become, however,
the backgrounds of Tralian residents remained skewed toward origins
in Naorchern ltaly in 1860, With the Anal unification of their nation of
origin still in the future, many IMIETaNs preferred to give regional
states as their places of origin; others identified themselves, or were
identificd by census enumErators, as being from ltaly. When they
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From Culrural Ideal to Social Rez

and continued to shape the lives of Italians in the city and
their identity as Italians.

The Immigrant Community: The Scaffold
for Mass Immigration

By 1870, an Italian community had clearly emerged in Philadelphia,
But it was a complex reality. On one level, this community was a
physical place. Although Tralians were found in various sections of
the city, their concentration in the wards of South Philadelphia had
become even more visible. On another level, of equal if not greater
imporrance, this community was also a source for a sense of personal
identity and social cohesion, Iralians now knew where they could
find other Italians, and similarly, other Philadelphians knew where
they could find Italians. The neighborhood contained such specific
insticutional features as the boardinghouse, the tavern, the parish, the
fraternal society, and various shops and stores, all with a definite
Italian characrer. Such conditions helped an [talian community to
become firmly rooted, both as a physical reality and as a social-
psychological reference for its own inhabirants, as well as for other
residents of the city.

For Philadelphia as a whole, the development of the Italian com-
munity was also coneributing to the social ecology of the modern
city. In addition to the central business district of the downtown area,
other hubs of mixed residential, industrial, and commercial character
were appearing throughout the city. In some instances, these smaller,
outlying districts had been grafred on to the older communities beyond
the original limits of the preconsolidation city.

Now, however, these somewhar sclf-contained communities were
becoming the neighborhoods, or “urban villages,” of modern Amer-
ica. The [talian case had also attained a peculiar sociological anomaly
that rends to mark most ethnic groups in complex societies. With its
own internal order and partial autonomy, the Iralian community in
South Philadelphia formed a distincrive and separatg social system in
itself. At che same time, as a neighborhood within and depeadent on
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As the nineteenth century unfolded, new demographic, ecological,
and institutional conditions enabled Italians to establish their own
. community. With each passing year, the size of the population in-
creased modestly but steadily. The naruralizations that occurred also
indicated that Italians were making a permanent commitment as cit-
izens of a new nation. At the same time, the first traces of internal
institutions that played an increasingly larger part in the further de-
velopment of the colony appeared. By the 1840s, the new arrival could
find lodging in a boardinghouse operated by another Italian, even if
it was also sometimes a place of intragroup hostility and violence.
By the 1850s, Iralians had grown sufficiently in number to warrant
establishing their own parish as Roman Catholics. By the 1860 federal =~
census, Iralians for the first time manifested a significant clustering
of population jo the southeast quarter of the newly expanded ciry,
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a precursor of the huge concentration that settled in that area in
subsequent years.

While some disappeared from the local scene either by moving
elsewhere or by assimilation into American society, other Italians
found opportunities in the growth of their own population. Instead
of serving a broader public, as they had done in earlier years, fralians
more often found one another and turned themselves in a centripetal
direction. The earlier hucksters, statue vendors, street musicians, and
rag dealers were first supplemented and then supplanted by retail
merchants and shopkeepers. To meet the needs of more recent arrivals
from their own homeland, they became macaroni manufacturers,
grocers, wine importers, and tavernkeepers. Noc all their business
ventures succeeded; some resulted in bankruptcy and personal failure.
In other instances, their efforts produced marerial success that could
be consolidated and passed down within the same family from one
generation to the nexr.

peration provided by family
nal foundation upon which
eloped community could be
>wing the seeds that eventu-
ity. While it remained only
nal organization, the Iralian
isive stage in the immediate
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1siness and the professions, These business enterprises, usually small but sometimes quite for-
nalities not only won respect midable, served as a commercial anchor for the emerging Iralian
strated the ability of [talians neighborhood. By means of the goods and services that they provided,
iway public opinion in favor . these merchants made their area of the city more suitable for Ital-
15 in Philadefphia, however, : jan immigrants. The same activities also established a neighborhood
1 public demonstrations in economy that generated opportunities for employment and income

t Iraly. : for the population. The visibiliry of these shops and stores, both for
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OWer, respect, and sometimes even affection from the mem-
eir community. Rather than pursue personal gain through the

' cues wxploitation of later arrivals, Italian leaders during these years

i e
i sought to achieve their own success through more legitimare and hon-
nto voluntary associations and

' orable means. They organized Iralians i
other forms of communal ‘nstitutions; they participated in campaigns
to rid the community of abuse and shame; they provided sources of

pride and standards of accomplishment for other ltalians to emulate;
and they served to articulate the Tralians as a group to the rest of the
city as a larger entity. Through these functions, the personal efforts of
these men also built a stable and enduring community for Iralians in
Philadelphia.
Although the local press continued to identify the padrone system

in the years ahead, the “institutional completeness” of the Italian
community may actually have provided a protective buffer for im-
migrants in Philadelphia. By the early 1870s, an elaborate internal

institutional structure made the Tralian community of Philadelphia

Tieiple and attractive to prospeciive immigrants. What the Italian com-

munity of Philadelphia had already become by the 1870s is partly the

answer to the question of why later immigrants chose that particular
= o DIGrants causk Lo b
character_of the community_itself

hat enhanced the employment and

destinarion. The more developed
Offered advantages and amenities €
housing opportunities provided by the city at large.
A careful study of subsequent years might reveal, however, that the
as not enough of a refuge ro protect later immigrants
from exploitation. In another decade or two, when the period of mass
immigration had cruly begun, the hegemony of these early leaders was
challenged. Philadelphia was not immune to efforts by employment
agents, bankers, and aspiring “bosses” seeking to mobilize immigrant
Itatians for their own selfish and corrupt objectives. At that point also,
the internal conflicts among leaders and within the Italian community
were aired more publicly. But the relative success or failure of later
padrone leaders followed what had already been accomplished within
the Iralian community.
And if the subsequent experience of Tralians in the United States
had remained more consistent with the immigrant community that
had been established in Philadelphia by the early 1870s, it would
have raken a different course. With a firmly rooted community whose
s were achieving some Imeasure of prosperity, respect, and

community w
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182 The Adjustment of e ltalians in Buenos Aires and New York City

There were, as [ discussed in preceding chapters, several significant
structural differences between the Buonos Aires and New York Ttalian
comamunities. In 1850, the New York community was just under a thou- 7
sand individuals, less than one-tenth the size of the Buenos Aires commu-
nity. Furthermore, this nurhber in New York constituted only the tiniest F
fraction of the total population of the city—.q1 percent. The ltalian com- .
munity grew very slowly over the next two decados, in part because of lim-
ited imumigration, and in part because the new ::.r:.m:ﬁ.lm:n_.o,,_mm:m_%
from the South—used New York as a way station to other parts of the
United States, In New York before the 18g0s, there were fewor permancent
Italians than in Buenos Aires who were available to create and develop im-
migrant institutions of any size, wealth, and influence.

Nevertheless, this relatively small Italian community was large enough
to support some institutions before the 1890s. The first Itatian-tanguage
newspaper, L'Eco d’italin, which began publishing as a weekly in 1849 and
became a daily in 1883, was an important source of convmunication within
the early community. Later, and especially around the turn of Hhe century,
there were many other Italian-tanguage newspapers published in New
York, Most were of short duration and small circulation. ;

The newspaper with the largest circulation and the one that was most
long-lived was II Progresso talo-Aniericans. Tuscan businessman Carlo Ba -
s0tti established the paper in 1879 becausc of his anger when L'Eco d'Iali
did not give sufficient attention to a lotter he had sent to the editor. Barsotti
had begun operating boarding houses for ltalian immigrants in New York
City during the carly t870s. He used this business as a base for a suc-
cessful career in labor contracting and banking. 1 Progresso was inconse-

P AL

quential fora few years, but in 1882 —when Barsotti hired the professional
journalist Adolfo Rossi as editor—circulation began to increase. By 180,
there were 6,500 copies of the paper printed each day, and circulation grew.:
rapidly thereafter.2!

I Pragiesso built its leading position amung Ttalian-language d
providing information necded by the recently arrived immigrants, Pag
one of the four-page daily was perhaps the least useful, being generally
devoted to majar news about ltaly, New York, and the United States. O
greater relevance o most immigrants was the information can tained in the
rest of the paper. Al the bottom of page ane were notices of arriving and
departing boals and other shipping news, The second page consisted of
announcements of mutual aid society meetings, reports on community
events, and frequently a list of Italians who had letters waiting for them at’
the New York Post Office. The section of classified ads must have been of
special interest, In nearly every issue of the paper during this period there
were a variety of ads from employers and labor agents in need of workers;’
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‘ men seeking wives, and proprictors anxious to seil grocery stores, barber

shaps, restaurants, and saloons.®

A few examples of classified ads provide a sense of the importance of the
paper both to the newly arrived imnugrants and to those who had been in
the country some time. An educated man of thirly with a good job was
seeking to correspond with a young italian woman—Dborn in New York of
ltalian parents—with regard to marriage. An Halian employer or agenl in
Jersey City was tooking for experienced carpenters o work in New York
or oulside the city. The owner of a ten-room, two-story Brooklyn house
with basement, just twenty-five minutes from New York and suitable for
Bwo families, wanied to sell his home. The ownor of a newly furnished bar-
ber shop connected to two habitable rooms wanted 1o sell the business be-
cause, after bwelve years, he was returning Lo Ttaly, A Washinglon, D.C,,

7 businessman wanted four young Ttalians to sell fruit from handcarts and
. preferred those from the southern provinces of Avellino and Salerne 2

Over half of the paper consisted of commercial ads for Ttalian busi-
nesses, professionals, and goods of presumed interest to the immigrant

! community. Scanning these columns of advertisements one could locate
. banks, boarding houses, steamship agents, foed and wine slores, restau-

et

“tants, doctors, pharmacies, and a wide range of medical cures, among

- other things, all within the Halian communities of New York. Freguently a

aumber of services were offered by the same business in the same ad. The

: Hotel Firenze at 65 W. Houston Street in lower Manhattan, for example, of-
fered individuat or shared rooms with food, but it also had a bitliard par-

lor,a wine shop, and an agency for the purchase of railroad and steamship
- tickets, 2

In addition o providing useful information to its veaders, I Progresso
-promoled the business and personal interests of its publisher. Among the
‘ads that appearcd regularly on page two were those for the Barea ltalo-
Amerjcana and the Libreria Ttaliana, both owned by Barsoiti. Lhe bank

uarters were at 2 Center Street, but it also had branches at 31 Mul-
erry Street, 72 Thompsan Strecl, and at 2209 First Avenue in Harlem, as
well as a branch in Napies. The bank offered to send money to any Italian

D DI ny !
post office, to sell railroad and steamship tickets for anywhere in Europe

- or the United States, to Pay 5 percent a year on savings accounts, (o loan
vmoney on objects of value, to serve as a notary public, and to give free fe-

gal advice and service. The paper also frequently listed the arrival of “our

r

Cimmigrants,” with towns of origin and the agents who had arranged the

ttip in conjunction with Barsotti’s bank.2
It Pragresso also served the personal as well as the business interc

of

its owner, Barsolti was one of the prontinenti who constituted the clite of
the growing Halian community of New York City. The prominenti were
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paper conducted a mock election to determine whom the readers would
most like to see as a potential Italian candidate. Nearly fourteen thousand
votes were cast for twenty-one prominent Italians. The winner was the
successful fruit dealer, politician, and leading force within the Italian
Chamber of Commerce, Antonio Zucea.'?

1l Progresso continued throughout the period to urge Italians to register
and vote every November when elections were scheduled to be held, and
it generally supported the overwhelmingly Irish candidates of Tammany
Hall and the Democratic Party. In early November 1907, as part of ifs
yearly effort to encourage Italians to register and vote, Il Progresso featured
an article on the recently enacted (June 29, 1906) federal naturalization
law and included the entire printed text of the document translated into
I[talian.™

One final ethnic institution needs to be mentioned. In 1896, a exoup of
businessmen established the first major Italian-American bank, the Italian
Savines Bank, in the heart of the Bowery colony. Hundreds of “ltalian
Banks” had appeared and disappeared in New York for many vears. Most
were unregistered and were run by padroni, boarding house owners, and
saloon keepers. In_1897, only six-—including the Italian Savings Bank
had legal status under the laws of New York State. There was no control or
regulation of the others and many immigrants were taken advantage of
and lost money. As a result, the Italian Savings Bank, which provided &
new level of protection and security, developed rapidly. By 1904, 1t had
more than seven thousand accounts.®

Host Society Dnstitutions: Developing the Ethnic Niche

Given the limited development and functions of the formal institution
structure in the Italian colony, the more narrowly self-serving nature of
leadership, the rapid and extremely large influx of immigrants, and the
sulting inability of the community to meet the newcomers’ basic needs
is not surprising that a number of non-immigrant-run institutions :
tempted to assist the immigrants. Prominent among these groups was
Italian government and its representative in New York, the [talian cong

The Italian government continued to try to help the immigrants asit hi
previously in 1888 when the Italian consul had taken the Jeadership ir¢
tablishing the short-lived Italian Home. It was, as Stabili notes, the tes:
the Italian elites (prominenti) to the labor agencies and banks, and th :
sulting refusal to do anything to protect the immigrants from the ab
of the padroni, that pressured the ltalian government into action.®

In 1901, a group of well-to-do Americans also bypassed the traditio
immigrant leadership to create the Society for the Protection of 1
Immigrants. The Protective Society, led by President Eliot Nortolt

e Catholic Church

The Catholic Chuarch durir
undations established duri
Porate Italian immigrants. Ii
falian parishes, the ethnic n
_;te in the church. Yet schol
s, especially before Wor
urch, through the creation
migrants to develop a st
e into the mainstream of
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Caleulating the total nember of tmmigrants and Anmeri n-bort members of
their familics was more difficult, In the lare 189058 estimates varied from slightly
OVer 20,000 in Philadelphia to almost 50,000 in New York City and Broaklyn,
Claiming 8o,000 in Philadetphia and 20,000 More in iy surrounding areas in
1906, the principal lalian newspaper of the city contended fhat many of them,
abready naturalized or with sume knowledge of English, were pas ing themselves
off as Americans. While the ULS. Censy reported 76,734 first- aned second-
generation lalians in e, and 136,793 in 1920, another newspaper estimated
the lalian population al ahout 200,000 in w7, tixceeded by other groups dur-
ing the previous century, latians were second only o the lrish in Philadelphia
by tg20."

S._::_Em__h ::Eﬁ&&mbf.:::.... Talians than ever before had become
residents of Ph ladelphia, 1 argely Trom tre Abrug and Sicily but also from
other regions ol |he South, and with a modest number of Tuscans and Genogese,
they reportedly oceupied ninety blocks of Seutl Philadelphia. Tealians tojled
as farmhands and ditchdiggers: as laborers in bridge, street, and raitroad con-
struction, sent from Philadelphia to wherever their work was needed; or
bers, tailors, bricklayers, stonemisons, and carpenters, and evern
and in other profe

bar-
i plysicians
1005 in the city, Their presence had exacerbated a debate
over the personal character and destrability of Italians, 1'he consul generat of
Naly reported that the talian was generally well regarded and that his amply
demonstrated eneegy, sobriely, and hanesty made him preferred above other
types of workers. But the majority of Philadelphians, who did not appreciate
the ltalian imprint on what they regarded as their city, did not share this view
When a prominent wrijer retured aller o long

absence, she declared: “To he
honest .. .1 do non like to tind Philadelphiy 3 foreign twn. ... 1 dy not like
Lo find streets where the name an alimast every store i Italjan,* Nevertheless,
displaced from distan) origing, transplanted 0 new soil, and now deeply root-
ed, ttalians w.mmu.?:..: A extensive community of their own in_Philadelphia—
families and households, immigrants who had resettiod there, children who were
born there, adults who were spending their tives there, and the elderly who would

die there, After ) half-century of gestation, and despite some recent dispersion of

population, their inst tutional and commercial life remained concentrated near

ﬁ_:.?:,._:m:.on_7222:%::: mw«‘_g_wm.ﬁ_.@w_:: Lleventh Streegs.®
“Talians shopped al the many groceries :,ﬂﬂmﬂ_vm their n:::m.__:ss_ in Little
Itafy. ‘they bought meat at the large butcher shop that slaughtered fwo hundred
sheep, thirty steers, and lifty calves each week, or in ather smaller markets, While
mifl, butter, and Chns were sold in stores, they were also delivered by horse and
wagen. Itattans, similarly, bought produee in stares, ar hucksters delivered fruit
and vegetables 1 homes, fiach morning, fresh bread came from the ovens of
bakeries. ltaliang seeking specialtios from (he

ir bomeland found rustic say ges
and cheeses, true Neapolizan pasta, and Sicittan-style bread. And most of them

i
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Street, just east of St Mary Magdalen dePazzi Church.

jans slaked their thirst at places owned and o_x.:.u:run_ E\ oﬁ_r_ﬁ.”q __”____u“__““m
e ".n becr, sold imported and domestic wines and fiqu ,. '
- .ci._.g_ c:..n.c_. restaurants. Perhaps mindful of the ﬁ_n:mn._,ﬂ 0
ot __:...:_,mﬁc ,.5_"_ tea or produced their own :E:a ,nawwwa.n:. ._ “Q
alcohol, some of 1 a._.;_._ _..:.:_m.r.m. where they might also play _.:___...:ia..._ _._nw M;;m,ma
o ..dm . _:_s..c%.,_.. .._. selato, soft drinks, and candy at no_.__nn:o::"._m.., :.z e of
i mEun.m:r y mr_ ._:uc:. fellow countrymen. They ?:sm.p widle E:w_c_ of
e ...:csmn m\n_ng by their own community, which included bar F_
B ,.ﬁn_..<_A2“._ﬁ _u_.,ﬁ.“”c_.n_ﬁ and shoe repair shops, _:_:E,m;.as..n_ﬁ....._ n:..:o__s_“,_,_
v _.,:w_::._nv:.. dm:. " Gt u._‘ﬁ leather goods, and even bookbinding. And ! AS\
e :c:m__“w.wnﬂ_E.a.c,n_:n::i.:é proprietors had once been ,,.M?_.ﬂ
es whos

shopped in stor St
sicians. . ings in a savings account, remi
Ec,.._,_n,_. el employment, deposit their carnings in a savings ¢
0 s¢ 4

: s, Italians
buy steamship tickets to retuen themselves, ltalia

money to familics in Haly, or ¢ Banco Torine, Banca

dealt with the Tralian Exchange Bank, ,._.:M._.n were abso th
Cantoni, Banca d'ltalia, Banea Z.n_:w___: _. ”JM_ER. e B
o m:.sn: _:c..i_u nE_m__Mvﬁ_p.“w“_m..,\“p_?””_h ,M.E_‘.EQ_ honesty, and n_n_un_:_.p_.:_.i.
- no::ap:n.r el ,:: other firms by offering wirele nc_s_sc_:n._;_do:
Some banks .no._:_ui_i. >4”“_.:.:_.n. While banks were olten also n:%wof:a_:. ;mﬁ.._:;_
o wE:_M;_,“,m_“”“m_”a_ﬁ_ﬁ.E:, to finding jobs for barbers. If _ﬂ._r_:; s...:‘wr.rpp_*_”,“.“.n_.ﬁ_-
by pror : i ab estate dealers, 1 they neede I
o ?,ccn_.:_p ﬂw@ __H”ﬁ_”f.“_qw_mhﬂw ”_H.”J_” _Mu__,ha\z_:n_..,n:: Building >?.cn_..,_:c:”
B ..c_, ,“,__, acquired homes with furniture and adorn rooms
et ::.__,, ﬂ.. :ﬁ. n firms in the community. If they :en&nam _:.::n.
e __AH”M”:&:“..& talian carpenters and other fradesmen. If things

improvements s e rchanies. To protect their
::E.EJ :_” they relied on the abilities of Ttalian mechanics, To p
required repair,

i S rance from [talian agents of
ty and families, they bought fire and life insurance fran _?_wn:dw.n?ﬁ in
perly i Rl X . . Y ses of I 5
Ec.* o panies in the community, And i they wanted H_:_pr_ﬁ
rjor companies +d at stadios in Little ltaly.
their new life, they were photographed at .é,:_:cm.._:_a {taly at a hotel with a res-
% 3 ithie Haly ot i
rrived immigrants found rooms in no vore
ewly arvived immigr " maller pesssioni and private
er u:ﬂ beer saloon or in one of the many smaller Mw::._. linguished or
taurant ang Rit i already lived, More disti f
. v relatives or paesani already ! o it
s, where Lheir relative . i’s Basso Fotel in center city,
home rous newcomers stayed at Abramo Personent’s Basso | nd several livery
it o wanted 1o board or hire horses, they could find s b
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Note on "Good Eye: Italian Bankers Row," by Inquirer's Inga

Saffron of February 22, 2015:

Some chronological problems were in this article. The Italian
banks on South 7th Street that exist were constructed thus:
Banca Bozelli (1895) at the northeast corner, Fitzwater;

Banca d'Italia (1903) at Pemberton; and,

Banca Calabrese {(1904) at Christian Street.

by Inga Saffron, Inquirer Architecture Critic ¥ @IngaSaffron ¢hitp:/twitter.com/IngaSaffron) |
= jsaffron@phillynews.com (mailto:isaffron@phillynews.com)

In the late 19th century, when thousands of Italian immigrants were pouring into South Philadelphia to make their fortunes, Seventh
Street was transformed into a bustling bankers row. By 1897, there were 25 rowhouse-size banks berween Bainbridge and Washington
Avenues, all competing to provide newcomers with loans, money transfers, even railroad and steamship tickets,

The immigrant bankers soon began erecting more substantial buildings, typically on corners where they would have maximum
visibility. Despite their desire to stand out from the competition, the bankers seem to have copied from the same design playbook. All
the major corner banks have bull-nose fronts, reminiscent of New York’s celebrated Flatiron building.

Banca D'Italia, now a residence, is probably the best preserved of the survivors, Designed by Watson & Huckel, it opened at the corner
of Pemberton Street in 1903, a year after the Flatiron’s debut. Although Pemberton is practically an alley, the architects nevertheless
treated the little bank as if it were presiding over a major intersection,

The elaborately carved door frame resembles something you might see on a Roman chapel, A large stone balcony, chiseled with the
bank’s name {nc doubt by Italian stone masons), sits over the double doors like a crown. The balcony rests on a pair of spiraling stone
corbels, which in turn rest on flowery, Corinthian eolumn capitals.

Lest Banca D'Ttalia’s customers somehow walk by without noticing the entrance, the architects gave the building a soaring clock
tower. The bank’s founder, Gennara Di Genova, was sc proud that he tock out a special supplement in South Philadelphia’s L'Opinione
newspaper in 1906 to tout the result. (Retired Villanova historian Richard Juliani graciously translated the artiele.)

Banca D'Htalia didn't stand out from the crowd very long. Three years after it opened, Lorenze Bozzelli erected an equally lavish, /33?5_
bull-nose bank a few doors away, at the corner of Fitzwater. (Now it's a dry cleaner.) Banca Calabrese did the same at Christian.

Knowing that the banking business might not last, their canny immigrant owners included apartments upstairs in all three buildings.
It's a good thing, too. The 1929 stock market crash was not kind to small banks. By the time it was over, Seventh Street was no longer a
crowded bankers row,

ngasatreng@gmal com ¢mastg | com)

215-854-2213 @ingasaffron

Banca D'Italia can be found just a few steps below Bainbridge Street. Continue walking south to Fitzwater to admire Bozzelli's bank.
You'll recognize Banca Calabrese at Christian even though it's lost its clock tower by its carved pediment and the crest of Reggio
Calabria.
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